RECEIVED
SEP 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001726

Sisters of Charity Providence Hospitals, Respondents,

v.

Palmetto Health, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert L. Widener
Celeste T. Jones
Jane W. Trinkley
MCNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 799-9800

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. The trial court erred in ordering Palmetto Health to produce the requested documents to Providence, because Palmetto Health is not a “public body” under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and therefore is not subject to the disclosure requirements of FOIA.
2. Palmetto Health is not subject to FOIA, because it is not supported by public funds.
3. Palmetto Health is not subject to FOIA, because it is not expending public funds.
4. Palmetto Health is not subject to FOIA, because all public funds received by Palmetto Health were in exchange for and in payment for Palmetto Health providing specified goods and services as required by the grant documents.
5. Assuming the receipt of public funds made Palmetto Health a “public body,” FOIA’s resulting reach into Palmetto Health was limited in scope to that which is necessary to serve the purpose of FOIA and did not include the private documents that the trial court ordered Palmetto Health to produce to Providence.
6. The trial court erred in finding that Palmetto Health is supported by public funds, and in using a federal tax law “public benefit” test to support its finding.
7. The trial court erred in finding that Palmetto Health is expending public funds.
8. The trial court erred in finding that Palmetto Health is a public body based upon a history of voluntary compliance with FOIA.
9. The trial court erred in awarding costs and attorney’s fees to Providence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent (Providence) and the Appellant (Palmetto Health) are private hospital corporations that competed with each other in providing hospital services to the Columbia, South Carolina service area. In 2015, Palmetto Health hired a group of orthopedic physicians that had been employed at Providence. In 2016, Providence filed a federal antitrust lawsuit against Palmetto Health making state and federal claims based on allegations that Palmetto Health had improperly hired these physicians. See *SCPH Legacy Corp. v. Palmetto Health*, 2018 U.S. App. LEXIS 15306 (4th Cir. 2018). In 2017, the United States District Court dismissed the federal claims for failure to state a cause of action and declined to exercise jurisdiction over the state law claims. *Id.* Thereafter, Providence filed an action in South Carolina Circuit Court making these state law claims. Providence appealed the dismissal of its federal claims. The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of Providence's federal claims. *Id.*

In 2016, Providence brought the instant lawsuit against Palmetto Health under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (FOIA).¹ Providence alleged that Palmetto Health had improperly refused its FOIA request for documents related to the alleged improper hiring of the former Providence physicians. (R. 17-18). Providence sought only these "hiring" documents in its FOIA request – it did not request any documents related to any other subject, including any documents related to Palmetto Health having received any public funds or grant funds. (R. 19-24). As Providence has admitted, "the documents at issue in [this] FOIA case are the heart and core of proof in the [federal] Antitrust action." (R. 339).

¹ See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-10 to – 165 (Rev. 2007 & Supp. 2017).

The trial court held that Palmetto Health was a “public body” as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a) based on Palmetto Health having been paid with grant monies for providing goods and services to the granting authority. The court therefore ordered Palmetto Health to produce the “hiring” documents requested by Providence. (R. 001-012). In a separate order, the trial court also awarded fees and costs to Providence under § 30-4-100(b). (R. 014-016). Palmetto Health timely appealed both orders.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The principal question presented here is the meaning of “public body” as defined by FOIA § 30-4-20(a). This is a question of law over which this Court undertakes a de novo review with no deference to the lower court. *DomainsNewMedia.com, LLC v. Hilton Head Isl. – Bluffton Chamber of Commerce*, ___ S.E.2d ___, ___ (S.C. 2018), hereinafter cited as *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d ___. The relevant facts are undisputed, and the application of the law to undisputed facts also presents a question of law over which this Court undertakes a de novo review with no deference to the lower court. *Williams v. Government Employees Ins. Co.*, 762 S.E.2d 705, 709 (S.C. 2014); *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Rhoden*, 728 S.E.2d 477, 480 (S.C. 2012).

ARGUMENT

I. Palmetto Health is not subject to FOIA, because it is not a “public body” for purposes of FOIA.

FOIA applies to a “public body.” There are two basic types of public bodies under FOIA. See § 30-4-20(a). First, FOIA defines “public body” to include all governmental entities, agencies, etc. *Id.* It is undisputed that Palmetto Health is not a “public body” under this definition. Second, FOIA defines “public body” to include a private corporation if that corporation is “supported” by public funds or is “expending” public funds. *Id.* Here, the question is whether Palmetto Health’s receipt of grant monies made it a “public body” under FOIA.²

The South Carolina Supreme Court has made it clear that “FOIA does not always and automatically apply when public funds are received by [a private] organization,” and any such rule would be “contrary to [the Supreme Court’s] discernment of legislative intent” on FOIA. *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___, n.7, *applying Weston v. Carolina Research & Dev. Found.*, 401 S.E.2d 161 (S.C. 1991). The Supreme Court has also made it clear that merely receiving or expending public funds does not subject a private corporation to FOIA: “We reject[] the suggestion that the *mere receipt or expenditure* of public funds automatically and categorically transform[s] an otherwise private entity into a public body triggering the full panoply of FOIA requirements.” *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___ (emphasis

² Section 30-4-20(a) provides in pertinent part: “Public body’ means any department of the State, a majority of directors or their representatives of departments within the executive branch of state government as outlined in Section 1-30-10, any state board, commission, agency, and authority, any public or governmental body or political subdivision of the State, including counties, municipalities, townships, school districts, and special purpose districts, or any organization, corporation, or agency supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds . . .”

added), *applying Weston, supra*.³ Rather, the Supreme Court “has recognized that the applicability of FOIA to a non-governmental entity is more involved than classification as a public body due to the receipt of public funds.” *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___. In short, FOIA has “limited application” beyond “traditional governmental entities.” *Disabato v. South Carolina Ass’n of Sch. Adm’rs*, 746 S.E.2d 329, 340, 341 (S.C. 2013).

Palmetto Health is not “supported” by public funds, because it is the “*general* support of an entity though public funds [that] brings it within the class of entities to which FOIA applies.” *Disabato*, 746 S.E.2d at 341 (also stating FOIA applies to a “private organization that is *generally* supported by public funds”) (emphasis added). Palmetto Health is not “expending” public funds, because it is the “*general* expenditure of public funds” that triggers FOIA. *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___, ___ (emphasis added). All public funds received by Palmetto Health were for specific purposes, goods, or services at the specific request of the granting authority. A private organization is not a “public body” when it receives public funds for a “specific purpose” or in exchange for “identifiable goods and services.” *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___ (goods and services); *Disabato*, 746 S.E.2d at 341 (specific purpose); *Weston*, 401 S.E.2d at 165 (goods and services). As shown below, the undisputed evidence and facts demonstrate that Palmetto Health’s receipt of grant monies does not make it a “public body” under FOIA. Palmetto Health has not been supported by public funds, nor has it been expending public funds. Rather, Palmetto Health has been paid with grant money after providing the goods and services requested by the granting authority and specified in the grant documents. (R. 087-088).

³ See also *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___, n.7, rejecting view that a private corporation becomes a “public body” under FOIA “simply as a result of its receipt of public funds,” and rejecting view that FOIA applies “to any organization that receives any public funds.”

The grant money that granting authorities have used to pay Palmetto Health is restricted to highly specific purposes, goods, and services that Palmetto Health must provide and perform before being paid by the granting authority. (R. 122; 145-147; 157; 162-166). The grant documents provide excruciating specificity on the purpose of the grant money, as well as the goods and services that the granting authority can purchase with the grant money. (*Id.*, see also R. 289-335). Palmetto Health has never received any public funds from any government source that were unrestricted, *i.e.*, that were not received in payment for goods or services specified in the grant documents and provided to the granting authority. (R. 122-123; 166).

Upon receiving the grant money, Palmetto Health places it in a restricted fund where it is held until after Palmetto Health incurs and pays the costs of providing the goods and services required by the grant documents. (R. 120-121; 123; 144). Thereafter, Palmetto Health is reimbursed from these restricted funds for those costs and payments, and Palmetto Health reports all of this to the granting agency as required by the grant documents. (R. 120-124; 141-147; 153; 157-159; 162-166). Any unused funds must be returned to the governmental agency making the grant. (R. 157).

Because the grant monies are received for the reimbursement of actual costs incurred, the grant money provides no net income to Palmetto Health. (R. 124; 144). In fact, if any reimbursements are not approved by the granting agency, there is a negative effect on Palmetto Health's net income. (*Id.*). Thus, the grant money received by Palmetto Health does not create any positive cash flow, does not contribute to its net income, and has no positive impact or effect on its ability to conduct its ordinary, private business

operations. (R. 124-125). Absent the grant money or some other outside funding source, Palmetto Health would not provide these goods or services. (R. 125).

The grant funds received by Palmetto Health are de minimus in comparison to the revenue from its private business operations. (R. 124-125). For example, from 2008-2015, Palmetto Health received \$28,736,137.00 in grant funds, which is only one-half of one percent (0.005) of its total revenue of \$5,742,187,000.00 for the same time period. (R. 094-095; 194-195; 198-202; 207-208).

As demonstrated above, every dollar of grant money (public funds) received by Palmetto Health has been in exchange for specific purposes, goods, and services. Palmetto Health has never received any unrestricted funds or money from any governmental entity. Therefore, as a matter of well-settled law under FOIA, Palmetto Health is not a “public body” as defined by § 30-4-20(a), because it provided specific goods and services in exchange for the grant monies. *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___ (FOIA does not apply when a private enterprise receives payment for supplying specific goods or services); *Disabato*, 746 S.E.2d at 341 (FOIA does not apply to a private entity that receives public funds for a specific purpose); *Weston*, 401 S.E.2d at 165 (FOIA does not apply to a business enterprise that receives payment from a public body for supplying goods or services). Accordingly, the appealed orders should be reversed.

To be “supported” by public funds, Palmetto Health would have to receive unrestricted funds that it could use for any purpose or, at the very least, that it could use for its general, private business operations and purposes. The undisputed evidence, however, demonstrates that all grant monies received by Palmetto Health were restricted to uses specified in the grant documents. No grant money was given to Palmetto Health for its

general or private business use. Palmetto Health never received any unrestricted funds from any governmental source. Accordingly, Palmetto Health has not been “supported” by public funds and, therefore, the appealed orders should be reversed.

In addition, Palmetto Health is not “expending” public funds – it is not paying public funds to third parties on behalf of a public body – it is not the payor of any public funds. Rather, as demonstrated by the undisputed evidence, Palmetto Health is the payee of public funds, *i.e.*, the public agency uses the grant money to pay Palmetto Health for providing goods and services to the granting authority. Accordingly, Palmetto Health is not “expending” public funds and, therefore, the appealed orders should be reversed.

II. Assuming Palmetto Health’s receipt of grant monies makes it a “public body,” FOIA’s reach into Palmetto Health is limited to the information and documents necessary to serve the purpose of FOIA, and does not extend to Palmetto Health’s private activities and private documents.

Even if Palmetto Health’s receipt of public funds (grant monies) makes it subject to FOIA (and it does not as shown above), there remains the question of the scope of FOIA’s resulting “reach” into a private entity. This is a question of statutory interpretation and, like all such questions, it hinges on “a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation *consonant with the purpose, design, and policy* of the lawmakers.” *New York Times Co. v. Spartanburg County Sch. Dist. No. 7*, 649 S.E.2d 28, 30 (S.C. 2007) (emphasis added) (interpreting FOIA). Unlike most statutes, FOIA expressly states the lawmakers’ purpose:

The General Assembly finds that it is vital in a democratic society that *public* business be performed in an open and *public* manner so that citizens shall be advised of the performance of *public* officials and of the decisions that are reached in *public* activity and in the formulation of *public* policy. Toward this end, provisions of this chapter must be construed so as to make it possible for citizens, or their representatives, to learn and report fully the activities of their *public* officials at a minimum cost or delay to the persons seeking access to *public* documents or meetings.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15 (emphasis added). As the South Carolina courts have repeatedly held, “[t]he purpose of FOIA is to protect citizens from secret government activity.” *Seago v. Horry County*, 663 S.E.2d 38, 42 (S.C. 2008); accord *Brock v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 785 S.E.2d 198, 200 (S.C. 2016); *Campbell v. Marion County Hosp. Dist.*, 580 S.E.2d 163, 166, 169 (S.C. App. 2003). This protection from “secret government activity” is designed to promote an informed electorate and to prevent corruption, including corruption in the expenditure of public funds:

[FOIA embodies] the principle of an open, transparent system of government, vital to maintaining an informed electorate and preventing the secret exercise of governmental power with its potential corruption.

* * *

[FOIA] serves the important governmental interests of providing transparency in governmental decision-making, preventing fraud and corruption, and fostering trust in government. An informed electorate is essential to a healthy democracy because members of the public cannot meaningfully cast their votes if they are ignorant of what actions the government has taken and the rationale for those actions. Furthermore, secret government activity creates fertile ground for fraud and corruption, *especially in the area of public expenditures where, without transparency, the public can be kept unaware of misappropriations and conflicts of interest.*

Disabato, 746 S.E.2d at 332, 338 (emphasis added); accord *Domains*, ___ S.E.2d at ___.

With respect to public funds like those paid to Palmetto Health, FOIA “mandates that the *public* be provided with information regarding the *expenditure of public funds.*” *Weston*, 401 S.E.2d at 164 (emphasis added).

Against this backdrop, the meaning, purpose, and scope of § 30-4-20(a) is clear: if and when the receipt of public funds makes a private entity subject to FOIA, the public may follow the public money into the private entity to the extent necessary to achieve the purposes and goals of FOIA, *i.e.*, to prevent secret government activity, promote an informed electorate, and detect/prevent corruption in the expenditure of those public funds.

It does not, however, allow what Providence sought and obtained here – judicial permission to rummage around in Palmetto Health’s private business documents to advance Providence’s wholly private interests in pursuing its private dispute with Palmetto Health.

Here, Providence did not seek any information on the expenditure of the public funds, did not make any complaints about the disposition of those funds, and made no complaint about the amount of detail available on the disposition of the public funds. Its sole purpose is to gain access to Palmetto Health’s private business documents and activities, none of which have anything to do with the disposition of the public funds. And Providence does this solely for the purpose of furthering its own private business interests in its private business dispute with Palmetto Health.

FOIA’s laudable purpose is to prevent secret government activity, promote an informed electorate, and detect/prevent public corruption, including corruption in the disposition of public funds. Providence seeks no such high ground, nor does it seek to advance any of FOIA’s purposes. Rather, Providence has perverted FOIA into a private tool for advancing its wholly private interests. The law should not and cannot countenance this perversion of FOIA and its underlying public policy. Accordingly, the appealed orders should be reversed.

III. The trial court erred in finding that Palmetto Health is a “public body” under FOIA and in compelling Palmetto Health to produce its private documents.

As shown above, the trial court erred in finding that Palmetto Health is subject to the requirements of FOIA and could be compelled to produce the requested documents under FOIA. As shown below, the trial court’s analysis to reach its erroneous conclusion was flawed for several reasons. It should be noted that the trial court did not have the

benefit of the Supreme Court's decision in *Domains*, *supra*, because that decision was not issued until after the current case was appealed to this Court.

- A. The trial court erred in finding that Palmetto Health is supported by public funds under FOIA by applying a "public benefit" test derived from the Internal Revenue Service's interpretation of irrelevant federal tax law.

The trial court found that Palmetto Health is "supported by public funds" based solely upon the following analysis (R. 002-004):

1. Palmetto Health's federal tax return filings includes federal tax Form 990. (R. 002).
2. The Form 990 instructions require the reporting of a grant or other payment from a governmental unit "if its primary purpose is to enable the organization to provide a service to, or maintain a facility for, the direct benefit of the public rather than to serve the direct and immediate needs of the governmental unit, [*i.e.*,] if the general public receives the primary and direct benefit from the payment and any benefit to the government unit is indirect and insubstantial as compared to the public benefit." (Id. at R. 002).
3. Palmetto reported grants on the Form 990, so the government grants received by Palmetto Health "are for the general benefit of the public and not for the benefit of the governmental unit." (Id. at R. 003).
4. "Accordingly, the Court finds that [Palmetto Health] is supported by public funds." (Id. at R. 004).

The trial court's ruling is erroneous for the reasons set forth in Arguments I and II, *supra*.

It is also erroneous for the additional reasons set forth below.

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