THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2017-001726
Trial Court Case No. 2016-CP-40-01651

RECEIVED
SEP 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Sisters of Charity Providence Hospitals, Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Health, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James G. Carpenter, S.C. Bar No. 1136
THE CARPENTER LAW FIRM, PC
819 E. North Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 235-1269
(864) 331-3083 (facsimile)
Jim@CarpenterLawFirm.net
Attorney for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

Robert L. Widener
Celeste T. Jones
Jane W. Trinkley
MCNAIR LAW FIRM, PA
PO Box 11390

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT IS A “PUBLIC BODY” UNDER FOIA.

Appellant Palmetto Health is a “Public Body” under FOIA, an “organization, corporation, or agency supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a).

A. FOIA’s Statutory Definitions are Binding.

The Supreme Court’s seminal and most important case in the application of FOIA to a corporation is *Weston v Carolina Research and Development Foundation*, 303 S.C. 398, 401 S.E. 161 (1991). The Court first ruled that FOIA’s statutory definitions are binding.

It is “well settled that **a legislative body has the power** within reasonable limits **to prescribe legal definitions** of its own language, and **when an Act** passed by it **embodies the definition**, it **is generally binding upon the Courts.**” *Windham v. Pace*, 192 S.C. 271, 283, 6 S.E.2d 270, 275 (1939). See also *Bell Finance v. South Carolina Dept. of Consumer Affairs*, 297 S.C. 111, 374 S.E.2d 918 (Ct.App.1988) (**statutory definitions should be followed** in interpreting the statute); *Fruehauf Trailer Co. v. South Carolina Electric Gas Co.*, 223 S.C. 320, 75 S.E.2d 688 (1953) (lawmaking body’s construction of its language by means of **definitions of the terms employed should be followed in the interpretation of the act** to which it relates and is intended to apply).

Id., 303 S.C. 398, 403-404, 401 S.E. 161, 164-165 (emphasis added). The FOIA “embodies the definition” of “public body” and “public record.” Accordingly, those statutory definitions are binding.

In *Weston*, the Court applied the statutory definition of a “public body” to a corporation, a Foundation affiliated with the University of South Carolina. The statutory definition at issue was “public body,” defined as “any organization . . . **supported in whole or in part** by public funds or **expending** public funds.” The Court found that the Foundation

was “supported . . . [at least] in part by public funds,” and that the Foundation was “expending public funds.” Accordingly, it was a “public body,” even though it was a corporation.

The *Weston* Court distinguished the Foundation from corporations that were merely providing goods or services on an arm’s length basis. An entity that provides goods or services to a public body on an arm’s length basis receives public funds in exchange for those goods or services, but is not “supported” by public funds, nor is it “expending” public funds. Accordingly, it does not become a “public body” under FOIA.

This example of an arm’s length, *quid pro quo* supplier was merely an analytical tool to help determine whether an organization met the statutory definition, an organization supported by public funds or expending public funds. It was not a judicial amendment of the statute. The Court held in *Weston* that the statutory definition controlled.

The rules of statutory construction do not allow an inquiry into the legislative intent of a statute unless there is some ambiguity. “As always, our inquiry into the meaning of the statute’s text ceases when ‘the statutory language is unambiguous and the statutory scheme is coherent and consistent.’ *Barnhart v. Sigmon Coal Co.*, 534 U.S. 438, 450, 122 S.Ct. 941, 151 L.Ed.2d 908 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted).” *Matal v. Tam*, 137 S.Ct. 1744, 1756, 198 L.Ed.2d 366, 95 USLW 4389 (2017) (emphasis added). The FOIA definition of “public body” is clear. There is nothing incoherent or inconsistent in the FOIA statutory definition.

B. FOIA’s Statutory Definitions are Deliberately Broad.

FOIA is not limited to traditional governmental bodies. FOIA applies to “Public Bodies,” defined as:

any department of the State, a majority of directors or their representatives of departments within the executive branch of state government as outlined in Section 1-30-10, any state board, commission, agency, and authority, any public or governmental body or political subdivision of the State, including counties, municipalities, townships, school districts, and special purpose districts, or any organization, corporation, or agency supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds, including committees, subcommittees, advisory committees, and the like of any such body by whatever name known, and includes any quasi-governmental body of the State and its political subdivisions, including, without limitation, bodies such as the South Carolina Public Service Authority and the South Carolina State Ports Authority.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a) (emphasis added).

This definition of “public body” is deliberately broad and encompassing: “**any** department of the State;” “**any** state board, commission, agency, and authority;” **any** public or governmental body or political subdivision;” “**any** organization, **corporation**, or agency . . . **including** committees, subcommittees, advisory committees, **and the like** . . . by **what-ever** name known, and includes **any quasi-governmental body** . . . including **without limitation**”

This definition plainly was intended to be broadly *inclusive*, not exclusive. Furthermore, that broad inclusiveness is required by the remedial nature of FOIA. “FOIA is remedial in nature and should be liberally construed to carry out the purpose mandated by the legislature.” *South Carolina Dep’t of Mental Health v. Hanna*, 270 S.C. 210, 241 S.E.2d 563 (1978). Courts must apply this expansive, inclusive definition of “public body.”

Similarly, FOIA contains an expansive definition of “public record.” “‘Public record’ includes **all** books, papers, maps, photographs, cards, tapes, recordings, or other documentary materials **regardless of physical form or characteristics prepared, owned, used, in the possession of, or retained by a public body.**” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-

20(c)(emphasis added). The definition also contains a limited list of exceptions, primarily related to personal, private information, financial records related to the founding of banks, and security plans and devices, which can be protected from disclosure.¹ Aside from these statutory exceptions, all “public records” of all “public bodies” must be disclosed under FOIA.

Appellant would have this Court craft a new definition of “public record” limited to those documents that relate solely to the public funding. Appellant argues:

[I]f and when the receipt of public funds makes a private entity subject to FOIA, the public may follow the public money into the private entity [only] to the extent necessary to achieve the purposes and goals of FOIA, i.e., to prevent secret government activity, promote an informed electorate, and detect/prevent corruption and the expenditure of those public funds.

Appellants’ Brief, p. 9. Thus, Appellant contends that the statutory definition of a “public record” is simply too broad. Appellant also calls the clear, statutory definition “a perversion of FOIA and its underlying policy.” Appellants’ Brief, p. 10. Through this argument,

¹ Records such as income tax returns, medical records, hospital medical staff reports, scholastic records, adoption records, records related to registration, and circulation of library materials which contain names or other personally identifying details regarding the users of public, private, school, college, technical college, university, and state institutional libraries and library systems, supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds, or records which reveal the identity of the library patron checking out or requesting an item from the library or using other library services, except nonidentifying administrative and statistical reports of registration and circulation, and other records which by law are required to be closed to the public are not considered to be made open to the public under the provisions of this act; nothing herein authorizes or requires the disclosure of those records where the public body, prior to January 20, 1987, by a favorable vote of three-fourths of the membership, taken after receipt of a written request, concluded that the public interest was best served by not disclosing them. Nothing herein authorizes or requires the disclosure of records of the Board of Financial Institutions pertaining to applications and surveys for charters and branches of banks and savings and loan associations or surveys and examinations of the institutions required to be made by law. Information relating to security plans and devices proposed, adopted, installed, or utilized by a public body, other than amounts expended for adoption, implementation, or installation of these plans and devices, is required to be closed to the public and is not considered to be made open to the public under the provisions of this act.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(c).

Appellant invites the Court to rewrite the statutory definition of “public record.” Respondent has confidence that this Court will decline Appellant’s improper invitation.

The Supreme Court reasoned that FOIA’s statutory definitions would impact a “public body,” and that the statutory definition was not limited in the manner that Appellant advocates. “By requiring that **all meetings** be open to the public, the FOIA **prevents private oral communication** among SCASA’s members. The records disclosure requirement **prevents private written communications** because **any such communications are subject to public disclosure.**” *Disabato v. S.C. Ass’n. of Sch. Admin.*, 404 S.C. 433, 444, 746 S.E.2d 329, 334-35 (2013) (emphasis added).

The Court in *Disabato* reasoned that the specific statutory exceptions to FOIA prove that all “public records” of a “public body” **not** within the statutory exceptions are subject to disclosure, as FOIA rightly requires.

We also find the FOIA does not burden substantially more speech than necessary to further those interests. The **FOIA exempts certain sensitive records** and meetings from public disclosure, and thus attempts to only implicate that speech and association **necessary to serve its purposes.** See S.C.Code Ann. § 30-4-40 (Supp.2011) (exempting certain records from public disclosure); S.C.Code Ann. § 30-4-70 (exempting certain meetings from the open meetings requirement). For example, “correspondence or work products of legal counsel for a public body” are **exempted** from public disclosure, S.C.Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(7), and “[d]iscussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion, discipline, or release of an employee” is **exempted** from the open meetings requirement, S.C.Code Ann. § 30-4-70(a)(1).

Of course, **the main thrust of SCASA’s challenge to the FOIA is that it applies beyond traditional governmental entities** to all public bodies, including non-profit corporations engaged in political advocacy. However, the application of the FOIA beyond traditional governmental entities is limited to **statutorily defined public bodies**, which are only those **entities supported by public funds.** *Weston*, 303 S.C. at 403, 401 S.E.2d at 164. The FOIA also serves these important governmental interests when applied to such entities due to the importance of **ensuring transparency and ac-**

countability in the expenditure of public funds. We previously recognized in *Weston* that the **FOIA is ineffectual if it does not extend to such bodies,** explaining that when an entity receives public funds *en masse* **or manages the expenditure of public funds,** “the only way that the public can determine with specificity how those funds were spent is through access to the records and affairs of the organization receiving and spending the funds.” *Id.* at 404, 401 S.E.2d at 165. If public bodies were not subject to the FOIA, governmental bodies could subvert the FOIA by funneling State funds to nonprofit corporations so that those corporations could act, outside the public’s view, as proxies for the State. Moreover, South Carolina is not alone in extending its FOIA to cover entities beyond the traditional governmental entities based on the receipt of public funds.⁷ **Several states—**Arkansas, Kansas, North Dakota, Virginia, and West Virginia—**use nearly identical language** in providing that **any entity that receives public funds is subject to their freedom of information laws.**

Id., 404 S.C. 433, 453-55, 746 S.E.2d 329, 340-41 (2013) (emphasis added). As shown herein, Appellant meets the statutory definition of “public body,” and FOIA applies to the Appellant.

C. Appellant Is Supported by Public Funds.

Palmetto Health has been receiving millions of dollars in government grants each year for many years. Appellant is “supported in whole or in part by public funds.” Each year, Appellant is required to file a federal tax Form 990. The IRS Instructions for Form 990 state the following with regard to line 1.e. of Part VIII, Statement of Revenue:

Enter the total amount of **contributions** in the form of **grants** or similar payments from local, state, or federal **government sources**, as well as foreign governments. Include grant amounts from **U.S. possessions**.

Whether a payment from a **governmental unit** is labeled a “grant” or a “contract” does not determine where the payment should be reported on part VIII. Rather, a grant or other payment from a governmental unit is reported here **if its primary purpose is to enable the organization to provide a service to, or maintain a facility for, the direct benefit of the public rather than to serve the direct and immediate needs of the governmental unit.** In other words, the payment is recorded on line 1e **if the general public receives the primary and direct benefit from the payment** and any benefit to the government unit is indirect and insubstantial as compared to the public benefit.

The following are examples of governmental grants and other payments that are treated as contributions and reported on line 1.e.

- **Payments** by a governmental unit **for the construction or maintenance of a library or museum facilities** open to the public.
- **Payments** by governmental unit **to nursing homes to provide care to the residents** (but not Medicare/Medicaid or similar payments made on behalf of the residents).
- **Payments** by governmental unit to child placement or child guidance organizations **under government programs to better serve children** in the community.

(R. pp. 194-95) (bold in original, bold and underlining added).

Appellant's Form 990s, filed from 2008 to 2014, reported the following on Part VIII line 1.e., entitled "government grants (contributions):"

2008: \$4,183,656.
2009: \$5,910,902.
2010: \$5,695,423.
2011: \$4,021,062.
2012: \$1,861,225.
2013: \$1,728,643.
2014: \$3,266,825.

(R. pp. 179-192).

In addition, the Palmetto Health Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets show "contributions and grants" as follows:

2009: \$7,121,000.
2010: \$7,727,000.
2011: \$8,648,000.
2012: \$8,946,000.
2013: \$9,953,000.

(R. pp. 198-202).

Appellant produced two pages of information, SCPH_001750-51, including a detailed chart of the source of government grants for the year ending September 30, 2015.

(R. pp. 207-208). It shows twenty-three separate government grants totaling \$2,068,401.

These pages demonstrate that these government grants are for the benefit of the public and not for the benefit of the governmental unit. Appellant has received millions of dollars in government grants each year for many years. Accordingly, the Circuit Court properly found that Appellant is an “organization . . . supported in whole or in part by public funds.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-20(a).

D. Appellant Expends Public Funds and Manages Their Expenditure.

David F. Lee, Palmetto Health’s director for financial forecasting, testified that his department provides financial record management for the expenditure of funds from governmental grants. Lee testified that Palmetto Health expends government funds and manages their expenditure:

1. “One of my responsibilities was reporting -- documentation reporting of grants and other services that we do back to the funding source.”²
2. He and his department use a record-keeping system to “report expenditures related to this grant . . . To make sure that the grant obligations are met, . . . and the expenditures have been spent in order for us to release the funds and record them as revenue.”³
3. The documentation provided by his department is “a requirement of the funding. When we receive the funding, we’re required to keep the documentation of those expenditures and then report them back.”⁴
4. He and his staff “oversee those expenditures to make sure they comply with the purposes of the grant.”⁵
5. “It is fair to say that [he] manage[s] and oversee[s] the financial justifications for the expenditures.”⁶
6. The Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (or “SANE”) program is a grant or program

² (R. p.136, lines 2-5).

³ (R. p.141, lines 12-22).

⁴ (R. p.144, lines 16-18).

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